#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 94,317

JAMES FRANKLIN ROSE

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

#### AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT JAMES FRANKLIN ROSE

#### On Appeal From The Imposition Of The Sentence Of Death By Electrocution By The Circuit Court In And For Broward County, Florida Case No.: 76-5036CF10A Honorable Paul L. Backman

RICHARD L. ROSENBAUM, ESQ. LAW OFFICES OF RICHARD L. ROSENBAUM Attorney for Appellant One East Broward Boulevard, Suite 1500 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone (954) 522-7000 Florida Bar No.: 394688

James Franklin Rose v. State of Florida Case No. 94,317

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols, abbreviations, and references will be utilized throughout this Initial Brief of Appellant, James Franklin Rose:

The term "Appellant" shall refer to the Defendant in the Circuit Court below, James F. Rose.

The term "Appellee" shall refer to the Plaintiff in the Circuit Court below, the State of Florida.

A 15 volume Record on appeal has been lodged in this court. The Record on appeal includes all pleadings and documents filed at the trial court level is contained in Volumes I through III, pages 1 through 445. Transcripts of hearings and the trial proceedings are contained in Volumes III through XV, pages 1 through 1628. Citations to the pleadings contained in the Record on appeal shall be indicated by an "R" followed by the appropriate page number (R). Citations to the transcript of the hearings, trial, and sentencing proceedings shall be indicated by a "T" followed by the appropriate page number (T).

All emphasis indicated herein have been supplied by the Appellant unless otherwise specified.

#### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1. Whether James Rose's death sentence should be overturned? Whether reversal and remand for imposition of a life sentence, or, alternatively, remand for a new penalty phase proceeding is required?
- 2. Whether the jury's recommendation was tainted by reliance on an aggravating factor in violation of the <u>ex post facto</u> clauses of the Florida and United States Constitutions?
- 3. Whether the trial court reversibly erred in refusing to vacate its sentencing order pursuant to Rule 3.800(b), Fla. R. Crim. P.?
- 4. Whether the court erroneously weighed aggravating and mitigating circumstances?
- 5. Whether reversible error permeated the remanded penalty proceedings?
- 6. Whether the use and misuse of photographic evidence requires resentencing?
- 7. Whether reversible error occurred when autopsy photographs were withheld in violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>?
- 8. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by allowing gruesome photographs to be presented to the penalty phase jury?
- 9. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to rule following a <u>Richardson</u> hearing surrounding the State's discovery violations pertaining to the photographs?
- 10. Whether James Rose's State and Federal Constitutional rights to a fair trial and due process of law were violated?
- 11. Whether prosecutorial misconduct created error during the State's closing argument?
- 12. Whether the prosecutor engaged in misconduct by improperly discrediting the

### defense psychologist? <u>ISSUES ON APPEAL (continued)</u>

- 13. Whether the trial court reversibly erred in allowing the State to elicit testimony designed to infer that sexual assault had occurred despite the lack of any evidence in support thereof?
- 14. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by allowing victim impact testimony and an impermissible aggravator?
- 15. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by allowing the decedent's mother's continued presence in the courtroom?
- 16. Whether cumulative errors during the penalty phase proceeding require reversal and remand?
- 17. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by requiring to read to the jury the list of 14 non-statutory mitigating factors sought by the defense?
- 18. Whether reversal is required as James Rose's death sentence is disproportionate?
- 19. Whether sentencing delay herein violates James Rose's fundamental State and Federal Constitutional rights?
- 20. Whether James Rose's sentence to death by electrocution violates the State and Federal Constitutions?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. <u>The History of This Case</u>.

James Rose was arrested in November 1976 and charged by Indictment with the kidnaping and first degree murder of eight (8) year old Lisa Berry ( R 1-2). He was convicted of both Counts and was sentenced to death by electrocution on the murder count and life imprisonment on the kidnaping count.<sup>1</sup>

James Rose appealed and challenged his convictions on several grounds. He contended that the evidence was insufficient to support his convictions for

first-degree murder and kidnaping. The Florida Supreme Court found:

... that the record contains a chain of substantial, credible evidence to support the jury's finding that defendant was guilty of kidnaping and first-degree murder. Whether, as defendant asserts, the evidence failed to exclude all reasonable hypotheses of innocence is for the jury to determine, and we will not reverse a judgment based upon a verdict returned by a jury where there is substantial, competent evidence to support the jury verdict.

<u>Rose v. State</u>, 425 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1982), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 461 U.S. 909, 103 S.Ct. 1883, 76 L.Ed.2d 812 (1983)[citations omitted].

In Rose, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Rose's convictions and vacated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The jury was deadlocked six (6) to six (6) regarding their life/death verdict. An improper <u>Allen</u> charge prompted a seven (7) to five (5) death recommendation. <u>Rose</u>, 461 So. 2d at 86.

his death sentence and remanded for resentencing. Upon resentencing, the death sentence was reimposed and was affirmed on appeal. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u> 471 U.S. 1143, 105 S.Ct. 2689, 86 L.Ed.2d 706 (1985).

James Rose filed a Motion for Post-Conviction Relief Pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim. P., challenging the lawfulness of his conviction and death sentence on a variety of grounds. The trial court summarily denied Rose's motion without conducting an evidentiary hearing. On appeal, the Florida Supreme Court reversed and directed the trial court to "reconsider Rose's motion and to hold an evidentiary hearing on the ineffective assistance of counsel claims and any other appropriate factual issues presented in the motion." <u>Rose v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d 1181, 1184 (Fla.1992).

The trial court reconsidered Rose's 3.850 motion and conducted an evidentiary hearing on Rose's claims that he received ineffective assistance of counsel at both the guilt and penalty phases of his trial. The trial court again denied relief as to all claims, ruling that Rose's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel did not meet the standards set forth in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>.<sup>2</sup>

On appeal to the Florida Supreme Court, in this Court's most recent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup><u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 668 (1984).

encounter with James Rose's predicament, the Court stated:

In light of the substantial mitigating evidence identified at the hearing below as compared to the sparseness of the evidence actually presented,<sup>3</sup> we find that counsel's errors deprived Rose of a reliable penalty phase proceeding. We further conclude that Rose was prejudiced by the ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase for failing to investigate and present available mitigating evidence. <u>See Hildwin</u>, 654 So. 2d at 110.

We affirm the trial court's denial of relief as to all claims raised in the 3.850 motion and hearing below except for Rose's claim alleging that counsel was ineffective during the resentencing proceeding. We reverse the denial of

Our confidence in the outcome of this proceeding is further undermined by the fact that at Rose's original sentencing trial, even without the presentation of substantial mitigation, the jury was deadlocked at a six-to-six vote on the recommendation of life or death. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 425 So. 2d at 525. The jury recommended death only after the trial court gave the jury an Allen charge. We vacated that death sentence and remanded for resentencing because <u>the trial court reversibly erred in</u> <u>charging the jury to continue deliberations when it should</u> <u>have properly instructed them that a six-to-six vote</u> <u>constitutes a recommendation for life imprisonment. In</u> <u>effect, Rose has once received a recommendation of life</u> <u>imprisonment from a jury even</u> without the substantial mitigation set out above.

Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567, 574 (Fla. 1996)[Emphasis added].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Importantly, the Florida Supreme Court stated:

relief as to that claim, vacate the death sentence, and remand for a new sentencing proceeding before a jury during which the jury may properly consider available evidence of aggravation and mitigation before rendering a verdict.

<u>Rose</u>, 675 So. 2d at 574.

#### B. <u>Remanded Penalty Phase Proceedings</u>

On remand, new penalty phase proceedings were presided over by the Honorable Paul L. Backman, Circuit Judge. Shortly after the Mandate was issued and the Order denying Motion for Rehearing was entered, the trial court ordered the Department of Corrections return James Rose to Broward County for court (R 3-31; 32-33; 34; 35). Thereafter, James Rose was held in the Broward County Jail pending a new penalty phase being conducted.

Again, the State of Florida filed its Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty ( R 46-7). As a result, several defense motions were filed, <u>inter alia</u>, attacking the constitutionality of the death penalty; seeking to consider the original sentencing jury's recommendation of mercy ( R 87-9); precluding the use of victim impact testimony ( R 93-5); and seeking to preclude death as the sentencing delay violates the constitution ( R 128-30). Further, the defense claimed that Section 921.141, Fla. Stat., violated the <u>ex post facto</u> provisions of the Florida and United States Constitution, and filed a Motion to Prohibit Application of the Statute ( R 142-5).

Pretrial hearings were conducted on March 10, 1997 (T 1-67). Remanded penalty phase proceedings commenced on March 24, 1997 continuing on March 25, 26, 27, 31, April 1, 2, and 3, 1997 (T 68-350; 351-504; 504-794; 795-947; 948-1130; 1131-1152; 1153-1391; 1392-1524).

Ultimately, after hearing evidence proffered by the State including evidence supporting the aggravator "victim under the age of 12 years old," the jury returned an advisory sentence recommending that James Rose be sentenced to death by a vote of nine (9) to three (3) (T 207).

On April 25, 1997, the Court conducted a <u>Spencer</u> hearing and both parties were given the opportunity to present additional testimony, evidence, and argument outside the presence of the jury (T 1525-88).

Prior to the imposition of sentence, the State filed its sentencing recommendation ( R 231-53). The defense filed a sentencing memorandum ( R 254-70). The State filed a response to the Defendant's sentencing memorandum and the Defendant filed a response to the State's memorandum ( R 271-98; 293-309).

On February 13, 1998, the trial court issued its sentencing order ( R 341-62). Relying upon five (5) statutory aggravating factors,<sup>4</sup> and finding no statutory

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The aggravators were as follows: 1) the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he had been previously convicted of a felony and was under the sentence of imprisonment or on parole (F.S. 921.141(5)(a)); 2) the

mitigators, the court imposed death by electrocution (R 362; 363-4). Subsequently, on February 20, 1998 the court issued an Order to vacate previous sentence and resentence Defendant under separate order (R 371). Thereafter, on March 13, 1998 a corrected sentence was entered (R 372-4). James Rose was again sentenced to death by electrocution.

Shortly thereafter, the defense filed a Motion to Correct Sentencing Error or Motion for New Sentencing Hearing (R 394-412). A second motion was likewise filed .

On September 8, 1998 the trial court entered an Order denying Defendant's Second Motion to Correct Sentencing Error or Motion for New Sentencing Hearing (R 422-8). An Order denying Defendant's Motion to Correct Sentencing Hearing was likewise filed (R 429-30). James Rose was again sentenced to death by electrocution. A Notice of Appeal was timely filed on October 7, 1998 (R 431). This appeal ensues. James Franklin Rose remains on death row, housed at Union Correctional Institution, in Starke, Florida.

defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use and/or threat of violence to some person (F.S. 921.141(5)(b)); 3) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of, or attempt to commit, or attempting to commit the crime of kidnaping (F.S. 921.141(5)(d)); 4) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (F.S. 921.141(5)(h)); 5) the victim of the capital felony was a person less than 12 years of age (F.S. 921.141.(5)(l)).

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### A. <u>At Trial</u>.

In Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521,522 (Fla. 1982), the Florida Supreme Court

set forth the facts established at trial, stating as follows:

Although circumstantial in nature, the evidence was sufficient for the jury to have found beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant, and no other person, kidnaped and murdered eight-year-old Lisa Berry. The evidence reveals that defendant was the last person to be seen with Lisa at the bowling alley on the night she disappeared. Barbara Berry, Lisa's mother, was at the bowling alley with family and friends when defendant arrived shortly after 9 p.m. on October 22, 1976. According to Barbara, defendant joined her and other team members at the bowling circle where they talked for several minutes. Shortly after 9:30 p.m., defendant said that he was going to the poolroom area of the bowling alley. Lisa told her mother that she was going with him. Defendant and Lisa were last seen by Lisa's sister Tracy, who testified that Lisa was outside the front door of the bowling alley and defendant was standing just inside the front door. Defendant gave Tracy money for cokes, but when she returned from the snack bar with the cokes, both defendant and Lisa were gone. Upon being informed by Tracy that she could not find defendant and Lisa, Barbara attempted to find them. While looking for them, she was paged for a telephone call which turned out to be from defendant. He asked Barbara the time; she said 10:30. He responded that it was 10:23. He asked what time she would be finished bowling; she said 11:30. Defendant was next seen entering the bowling alley at approximately 11:30 p.m. The medical examiner's testimony established the time of Lisa's death to be within twenty-four hours either side of 1

a.m., October 23, 1976.

The evidence reveals that defendant had a motive for killing Lisa. Although he and Lisa's mother had dated for about nine months, they were no longer dating regularly because he was extremely jealous about her working in the bowling alley bar and being around other men. Lisa's mother testified that defendant told her that he could hurt her and that she did not know what he was capable of doing. A male friend of Barbara's who was at the bowling circle when defendant was there was asked by Lisa if he was going to have breakfast with her and her mother. According to testimony at trial, defendant, after having overheard this conversation had a look on his face as if to say, "What is going on?"

Several people present at the bowling alley testified that when defendant returned at approximately 11:30, he had a large red spot on his lower right trousers leg. Expert testimony revealed the spot to be type B blood. Type B bloodstains also were found on the outside of the passenger's door of defendant's white van, on the passenger's seat, and on the engine cover. Fingernail scrapings taken from defendant revealed blood. It was stipulated in the record that Lisa had type B blood and that defendant had type A blood.

At about 11:45 p.m. on the night Lisa disappeared, a white van was seen behind a Pantry Pride store located about a quarter of a mile from the bowling alley. Defendant was seen driving his white van that same night. According to testimony at trial, when the search for Lisa began shortly after defendant's return to the bowling alley at 11:30, he drove away and returned at least three times. Lisa's green sweater and pink pants were found the next afternoon behind the Pantry Pride. Her pink blouse was later found in defendant's van. Lisa's nude body was found four days after her disappearance in a canal approximately ten miles from the bowling alley. Her shoes were found about a mile apart alongside a road between the canal and the bowling alley.

A paint-stained hammer was found in the canal about six feet from Lisa's body. Defendant was a painter, and expert testimony revealed that paint samples from the hammer were similar to paint samples taken from paint cans in his van. The medical examiner testified that Lisa's death resulted from severe head injuries caused by blunt force.

Expert witnesses also testified that a green fiber taken from defendant's clothing after his arrest was consistent with fibers from Lisa's green sweater found behind the Pantry Pride and that a crushed hair taken from defendant's sock was consistent with hair from Lisa's hairbrush. Defendant made numerous inconsistent attempts to account for his whereabouts on the evening Lisa disappeared and to explain away certain evidence. Defendant told Lisa's mother that he was at the Highway Bar when he telephoned her regarding the time and stated to her that it was 10:23. He was uncharacteristically exact about the time, and he could be clearly heard without background noise which, according to testimony, would not have been possible had he been at the bar when he telephoned since the band at the bar would have been playing loudly at that particular time.

When defendant returned to the bowling alley at 11:30, he pretended that Lisa was still alive. Acting as though Lisa was present at the bowling alley in his visible sight, he commented to Lisa's mother that Lisa was getting chubby and asked who was the person with the goatee to whom Lisa was talking. When she turned around to see who defendant was referring to, she saw neither Lisa nor a person with a goatee.

After initially denying that the spot on his trousers leg was blood, defendant later explained that he had cut himself changing a tire. Testimony indicated the spare tire was fully inflated. He told a police officer that he had cut his leg while crawling underneath the van to check out a noise he had heard. When the officer took defendant to the area where he claimed to have crawled under the van, the officer could not find any impressions in the sand that could have been made by a human body.

In an attempt to cover the blood spot on his trousers which was first noticed and called to his attention upon his return to the bowling alley at 11:30, defendant first covered it with a whitewash or paint. Later, after he went into a restroom, the spot was covered with grease or some black substance. Defendant explained to a police detective that the blood on the seat of his van was from an injured friend whom he had taken home about two months earlier. The friend had type A blood. The blood on the seat was type B, the same as Lisa's.

Defendant, at one point, told police detectives that Lisa had last been near the van about two weeks prior to the night of her disappearance. He later stated that Lisa had attempted to get into the van earlier that evening and he told her to get out. Lisa's mother testified that Lisa had not been in defendant's van for about a year. Defendant was convicted for the kidnaping and first-degree murder of Lisa Berry. The jury recommended death, and the trial court sentenced him to death for the murder and to life imprisonment for the kidnaping.

<u>Id</u> at 522-23.

#### B. <u>Guilt Phase Proceedings On Remand.</u>

On remand, guilt phase proceedings were conducted by the Honorable Paul L. Backman, Circuit Court Judge.

As before, over defense objection the jury was shown photographs characterized as gruesome.<sup>5</sup> Thereafter, the State elicited testimony from numerous witnesses for sentencing purposes. Several of the decedent's family members testified concerning their knowledge of the events surrounding the incident. The decedent's grandmother, Margaret Szabo testified (T 519-534). Her former husband, Joseph Szabo testified via former testimony in a prior proceeding (T 556-594). The decedent's younger sister, Tracy Berry, likewise testified (T 595-98).

Several other individuals testified as fact witnesses concerning the events leading up to Lisa Berry's disappearance. For example, the sponsor of the decedent's mother's bowling league, Walter Isler testified (T 535-55). Barry Daniello likewise testified about the events which occurred at the bowling alley that evening (T 598-616). Judy Coppell similarly testified (T 617-24).

Two (2) of James Rose's prior parole officers/probation officers, Gloria Daniels and Charles Dickun testified as State witnesses (T 816-35; 1066-96).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The photographs consisted of close up pictures of the body of Lisa Berry floating in the canal. The body was covered with maggots. Maggots were all over the child's head, face, torso, and mouth (T 636-38).

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