IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 94,317

JAMES FRANKLIN ROSE,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

LESLIE T. CAMPBELL

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0066631 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

JAMES FRANKLIN ROSE v. STATE OF FLORIDA

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

**POINT I** - Imposition of the death penalty is appropriate and proportional. The trial court considered the evidence, determined aggravating and mitigating circumstances, and made an appropriate weighing of these factors. A fair hearing was conducted, devoid of prosecutorial misconduct or evidentiary errors. Defendant's constitutional rights were not violated. This death sentence should be affirmed.

**POINT I A** - Even though instructed on the "victim under age of 12" aggravator, the sentence should be affirmed. Instructing on this aggravator is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

**POINT I B** - Rule 3.800(b) does not apply to capital cases; the motion was denied properly. Nonetheless, the conclusions regarding aggravating/mitigating factors have record support. There was no abuse of discretion weighing these factors.

**POINT 1 C i and iii** - Admission of two photographs depicting the location of and injuries to the victim's body was proper.

**POINT I C ii and iv** - There was no <u>Brady</u>² violation arising from the disclosure of the autopsy photographs. The prints were not exculpatory. The discovery issue was resolved properly.

**POINT I D i, ii, and iii** - No prosecutorial misconduct occurred in this trial. The prosecutors closing argument, cross-examination of Dr. Toomer, and use of physical and medical

²Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

testimonial evidence was proper. However, if there was error, such was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

<u>**POINT I D iv and v**</u> - Victim impact testimony was admitted properly and Mrs. Berry's courtroom presence was proper.

**POINT I D vi** - The cumulative effect of the alleged errors does not constitute fundamental error nor require reversal.

**POINT I D vii** - The judge instructed the jury properly using "catch-all" non-statutory mitigating circumstance instruction.

**POINT I E** - Appellant's sentence is proportional.

 ${ t POINT\ I\ F}$  - The time between conviction and resentencing is not a violation of the Florida or United States Constitutions.

 ${ t POINT\ I\ G}$  - The challenge to execution by electrocution is moot because Florida has switched to lethal injection.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

DEATH SENTENCE WAS IMPOSED PROPERLY; IT IS PROPORTIONAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL. (restated).

Claiming numerous errors, Appellant seeks reversal of his death sentence and imposition of a life term or a new penalty hearing. The State disagrees. No reversible error occurred. The court weighed the aggravators and mitigators properly before imposing the death penalty. Defendant's constitutional rights were not violated. The sentence is proportional and should be affirmed.

#### POINT I A

INSTRUCTING JURORS THAT THE VICTIM'S AGE MAY CONSTITUTE AN AGGRAVATOR IS HARMLESS ERROR BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT STRUCK THE AGGRAVATOR, REWEIGHED THE EVIDENCE AND REIMPOSED THE DEATH PENALTY. (restated)

Contending it was reversible error for jurors to consider Lisa's age an aggravator, Appellant asserts there is a likelihood a different recommendation would have been rendered (IB 32-34). The State disagrees. The judge admitted Lisa's age properly, but later determined the jury should not have been instructed on this aggravator. Striking the aggravator, the remaining aggravators and mitigators were reweighed and a new sentence imposed as required by Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527 (1992); Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 536 (Fla. 1987)(reasoning "if there is no likelihood of a different sentence, the error must be deemed harmless"), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988). This Court should affirm.

The evidence revealed eight year-old Lisa was last seen in Defendant's company. (T VII 520, 565-66, 595-97). At no time did Appellant seek suppression of this information; the only assertion was that the age could not be used in aggravation (R I 142-65; T IV 73-76). Appellant may not complain that the age was disclosed Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (finding unless error is fundamental, matter must be preserved for review). Further, he should not be permitted to base his claim of error on a fact so entwined with the nature of the victim, especially where he did not object, and it was determined the death penalty would have been imposed absent reliance upon the victim's age.

It is well settled, a defendant "takes his victim as he finds him and 'cannot be excused from guilt and punishment because the victim is weak and could not survive the torture he administered.'"

Brate v. State, 469 So.2d 790, 795 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) (quoting Swan v. State, 322 So.2d 485 (Fla. 1975)). The fact Lisa was eight years-old was a fact which could not be excised from the proceedings any more than her sex. In fact, her age and sex are so inherent in the case, no one considered excising them. Cf. Allen v. State, 662 So.2d 323, 328 (Fla. 1995)(finding reference to victim's family proper where defense characterized victim as 'lady who has a large family'); Muehleman v. State, 503 So.2d 310, 317 (Fla. 1987)(reasoning characterizing victim as "feeble, sickly, 97-year-old man" could excite jurors' passions, but court is not required to "rewrite on behalf of the defense the horrible facts of what

occurred or make the slaying appear to be less reprehensible than it actually was"). Because Lisa was eight (T VII 520, 565-66, 595-97), there was no error in so characterizing her.

In the February 13, 1998 sentencing order, without benefit of State v. Hootman, 709 So.2d 1357 (Fla. 1998), abrogated on other grounds, State v. Matute-Chirinos, 713 So.2d 1006, 1008 (Fla. 1998), the trial court found the age aggravator proven (R II 348). Contemporaneously, the court determined four other aggravators were proven beyond a reasonable doubt, and together, these outweighed the non-statutory mitigators (R II 342-59).

In response to <u>Hootman</u>, the judge revisited his ruling on the victim's age aggravator, struck the factor, and finding its use harmless, imposed the death penalty upon reweighing the aggravators and mitigators (R I 135-38, 142-65; III 394-412, 422-28). Recognizing application of section 921.141(5)(1), Florida Statutes was an expost facto violation the judge announced:

... this Court has closely examined the record, including any evidence this Court and/or the jury could have legitimately relied on, and in addition conducted even a closer examination of the impermissible evidence which might have influenced both this Court's and/or the jury's decision.

### (R II 424). Continuing, the judge reasoned:

... this Court originally weighed the five aggravating statutory factors found to exist against all the non-statutory mitigating³

³Apparently, the judge reconsidered the existence of the non-statutory mitigating factors (1) homicide committed under

factors found to exist, and concluded that death was the appropriate sentence for the Defendant. Even after this Court strikes the aggravating factor of "the victim of capital felony was a person less that twelve (12) years of age", there are four valid aggravating factors which remain to be weighed against the non-statutory mitigating factors that this Court previously accorded either some, little, or very little weight. should be noted, that striking one aggravating necessarily factor does not require resentencing because, if there is likelihood of a different sentence, the error must be deemed harmless.... Furthermore, this Court did not give disproportionate weight to the aforementioned stricken aggravator when compared to the others. Additionally, this Court and the jury were made aware of the fact that the victim of the murder was a person less than twelve years of age by the evidence presented, not withstanding the inclusion of the aggravating factor enumerated in F.S. Section 921.141(5)(1). Finally, this Court has carefully reweighed the remaining four valid aggravators against the non-statutory mitigators previously found to exist and finds reasonable doubt, beyond a that elimination of said invalid aggravating factor does not disturb this Court's determination that death by electrocution is the appropriate sentence for the Defendant. This Court has also conducted a thorough review of all the evidence presented to the jury and finds that the inclusion of the aforementioned invalid aggravating factor would not have effected the jury's recommendation of death, which was by a vote of nine (9) to three (3). This Court further finds that no reasonable juror, when weighing the remaining four valid aggravators, against the non-statutory mitigators found to exist, would have made any recommendation

influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and (2) Defendant is an alcoholic (R II 354, 356; R III 425). In the Order on Defendant's Second Motion to Correct Sentencing, these were found and given "some" and "very little" weight respectively (R III 425).

than the one that was Therefore, this Court's previous finding that post facto aggravating factor enumerated in Florida Statute 921.141(5)(1) existed, was harmless error. Finally, this finds that the Defendant's death sentence is not disproportionate to other cases where the Florida Supreme Court has upheld the death sentence. In conclusion, this Court finds, that the totality of the remaining aggravating factors and the lack of significant mitigating circumstances conclusively demonstrates that death is the appropriate sentence in this case.

### (R III 426-28).

A review of the original sentencing order and the order on Defendant's Second Motion to Correct Sentencing reveals the judge merely did not count the aggravators and mitigators in determining a sentence as forbidden in <a href="State v. Dixon">State v. Dixon</a>, 283 So.2d 1, 10 (Fla. 1973). Instead, a weighing process was employed as required by <a href="Sochor">Sochor</a>, 504 U.S. at 532. Hence, the judge's conclusion the death sentence is appropriate, even after striking one aggravator, should be affirmed on the basis the initial use of the aggravator was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Recently, in <u>Zack v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S19 (Fla. Jan. 6, 2000), this Court addressed the retroactive application of an aggravator. Initially, when discussing an unsupported aggravator, the Court reasoned application of this aggravator was harmless because "there [was] no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the sentence because without this aggravating factor there [were] at least four other valid aggravators..." <u>Zack</u>, 25

Fla. L. Weekly at S22 (footnote omitted). Under <u>Peterka v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 59, 71 (Fla. 1994), reversal of a death sentence is proper only where a correct weighing of the aggravators and mitigators by the trial court, reasonably could have resulted in a reduced sentence. <u>See also, Robertson v. State</u>, 611 So.2d 1228, 1234 (Fla. 1993); <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988). Conversely, if "there is no likelihood of a different sentence, the error is harmless." <u>Peterka</u>, 640 So.2d at 71. When addressing an ex post facto application of an aggravator in <u>Zack</u>, this Court applied the harmless error analysis and determined the remaining aggravators supported the death penalty. <u>Zack</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at S24.

Likewise, this Court should conclude the remaining aggravators (1) defendant on parole, (2) prior violent felony convictions, (3) homicide committed during kidnapping, and (4) HAC (R II 342-48) support the death sentence especially because the non-statutory mitigators were of "some" to "very little" weight. The mitigation identified in the Order on Defendant's Second Motion to Correct Sentencing was (1) mental/emotional disturbance (2) non-nurturing childhood (3) employment history (4) good characteristics, (5) below average intelligence, (6) person adapted to prison life; (7) good deeds; (8) alcoholic/intoxicated; (9) attempt at cooperation;

⁴Aggravators remaining were murder committed (1) during robbery, sexual battery, or burglary; (2) pecuniary gain; (3) HAC; and (4) cold calculated and premeditated manner.

and (10) maintains innocence (R II 354-57; III 425; T XV 1607-11). Clearly, when the remaining valid aggravators are weighed against the non-statutory mitigation, any error in considering the age of the victim is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt⁵. Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1347, 1353-54 (Fla. 1994)(concluding erroneous CCP finding harmless because three other aggravators and no mitigators, supported death penalty); Coney v. State, 653 So.2d 1009, 1015 (Fla.1995)(holding error in finding great risk aggravator was harmless in light of four aggravators); Castro v. State, 644 So.2d 987, 991 (Fla. 1994)(finding reliance on CCP harmless with three other aggravators proven). This Court should affirm the sentence.

Analogous to instructing the jury on the victim's age aggravator, only to strike it, is giving a flight instruction. Even though the flight instruction is no longer appropriate, the facts showing the defendant fled from the police are admissible and may be argued to the jury. Fenelon v. State, 594 So.2d 292, 295 (Fla. 1992)(abolishing flight instruction, but permitting parties to argue facts of flight); Power v. State, 605 So.2d 856, 861 (Fla. 1992)(giving flight instruction harmless because facts supported defendant was fleeing); Schafer v. State, 537 So.2d 988, 991 (Fla.

⁵Appellant asks the Court to speculate upon what sentence the initial trial jury may have rendered absent a charge under <u>Allen v. United States</u>, 164 U.S. 492 (1896) (IB 32). As done in <u>Rose v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 84, 86 (1984) and <u>Rose v. State</u>, 675 So.2d 567, 574 n. 10 (Fla 1996), this should be rejected. What is clear, Appellant's prior two juries, which had not been given the "victim's age" instruction, recommended the death penalty.

1989). Hence, while an instruction may be found erroneous, the mere admission of facts supporting it does not require reversal.

Here, because Lisa's age was admitted properly as a fact of her nature, the parties could utilize the fact when characterizing her. This Court should find that instructing the jury on the victim's age aggravator was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and affirm the death penalty imposed.

#### POINT I B

TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO VACATE SENTENCING ORDER; PROPER WEIGHING OF AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES WAS CONDUCTED. (restated).

It is Appellant's contention sentencing errors based upon the age aggravator and "errors committed in determining and applying the aggravators and mitigators" required the trial court to correct its sentence under Rule 3.800(b) (IB 34). The State submits the trial court did not err in denying the Rule 3.800(b) motion as capital cases are excluded from the application of rule. Recently this Court decided capital cases are excluded from rule 3.800(b). Amendment to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.11(e), 3.800 and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h) and 9.600, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S37 (Fla. Jan. 13, 2000). As such, the trial court did not err in denying the motion and this Court should affirm. For the same reason, Appellant may not rely upon his Rule 3.800 motions to preserve sentencing issues for appeal. In his sentencing recommendation, Defendant admitted each aggravator was proven

except for HAC (R II 254-59, 269). However, assuming arguendo the Court will review the merits of this challenge, it will find the judge's determination related to mitigators and aggravators, the weighing of these factors, and the decision to impose the death penalty has record support and met the dictates of <u>Sochor</u>, 504 U.S. 532; <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 415, 419-20 (Fla. 1990).

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